




ITEM I. B. 

















ITEM I. B. 













Memorandum
To: Mayor and Council  

From: Tracy Hegler, City Manager 

Date: March 7, 2023 

Subject: Discussion and Approval of Ordinance 2022-17 Amending Chapter 10 (“Buildings and 
Building Regulations”) of the Cayce City Code to Add a New Article V (“Vacant Commercial 
and Industrial Building Registration”) – Second Reading 

Issue 
Council’s approval is needed to amend Chapter 10 (“Buildings and Building Regulations”) by adding a 
new Article V titled “Vacant Commercial and Industrial Building Registration.” 

Discussion 
Over the past several years, City Council and staff have been working to revitalize areas in the City and 
address community issues related to vacant properties – specifically, empty and underutilized 
commercial and industrial buildings that often lead to blight and underinvestment in surrounding 
neighborhoods.  Staff researched best practices and received advice on this issue from industry experts 
selected to work with us as part of the Alumni Technical Assistance from the Mayors Institute on City 
Design (MICD 2.0).  This was a follow-up to the case study program Mayor Partin participated in, at no 
cost to the City, in 2015, that helped jump start the pre-vitalization of the Cayce River Arts District.  

What resulted was the recommendation to adopt a registration program that could help the City to 
better address these types of properties.  The attached Ordinance encompasses the elements of a 
property registration program with escalating fees that would apply to vacant commercial and industrial 
properties only.  Generally, this program will identify and register vacant commercial and industrial 
buildings, clearly express the responsibilities of the building owners, and provide for administration, 
enforcement, and penalties. 

At the meeting on November 16, 2022, City Council voted to give the draft Ordinance First Reading, and 
deferred Second Reading for two months to allow staff to do the following: 

• reach out to the property owners that would be affected by this amendment.
• hold a meet and greet between affected property owners and potential businesses we hear from

that are looking for places to locate in Cayce
• address questions received

Since First Reading, the following has occurred: 
• staff has sent two notices to property owners letting them know about the proposed Ordinance

and the meet and greet opportunity

ITEM IV. A. 



• a Meet and Greet was held at Piecewise Coffee on January 12, 2023 with almost equal 
attendance from property owners as prospective businesses 

• staff held a meeting with Board members from the Greater Cayce West Columbia Chamber of 
Commerce to discuss the Ordinance, which was well received 

• the Ordinance was also presented to stakeholders such as commercial realtors to solicit feedback 
• staff has proposed solutions to several questions and items of clarification in the attached draft 

Ordinance presented for Second Reading 
 
At the meeting on January 25, 2023, City Council voted to defer second reading to the first meeting in 
March to clarify a few things and make sure all questions were addressed. 
 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that City Council approve amending Ordinance 2022-17 to conform to the version 
contained in Council’s agenda packets, which was also available on the City’s website.  Further staff 
recommends that City Council, give Second Reading approval to amend Chapter 10 (“Buildings and 
Building Regulations”) by adding a new Article V titled “Vacant Commercial and Industrial Building 
Registration.”   



 1 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ORDINANCE 2022-17 
) 

COUNTY OF LEXINGTON ) Amending Chapter 10 (“Buildings and Building 
) Regulations”) of the Cayce City Code to Add a 

CITY OF CAYCE ) New Article V (“Vacant Commercial and  
) Industrial Building Registration”) 

WHEREAS,  the City Council, in the interest of public health, order, safety and the general 
welfare within the City, desires to address certain issues related to vacant commercial and 
industrial buildings within the City with a comprehensive  approach; and 

WHEREAS, the Council, to accomplish that comprehensive approach, wishes to amend  
Chapter 10 (“Buildings and Building Regulations”) of the Cayce City Code to add a new Article V 
(“Vacant Commercial and Industrial Building Registration”) as provided herein, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Cayce, in Council, duly assembled, that Chapter 10 (“Buildings and Building Regulations") of the 
Cayce City Code is hereby amended to (1) reserve sections 10-101 through 10-129 of the City 
Code following the current text of Article IV, and (2) add a new Article, entitled Article V (“Vacant 
Commercial and Industrial Building Registration”), to read as follows:  

ARTICLE V. - VACANT COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL BUILDING REGISTRATION 

Sec. 10-130. -  Declaration of policy and purpose. 

The purpose of this article is to establish a program for identifying and registering vacant 
commercial and industrial buildings within the City that may present a fire hazard, that 
may provide temporary occupancy by trespassers or other transients, that may detract 
from private and/or public efforts to rehabilitate or maintain surrounding buildings, and 
that otherwise may present a hazard to the health, safety and welfare of the public. 
Through a registration, inspection, and monitoring process, vacant commercial and 
industrial buildings will be kept weather tight and secure from trespassers, will provide 
safe entry to police officers and firefighters in times of emergency, will not impede private 
and/or public efforts to rehabilitate or maintain surrounding buildings, and will not 
otherwise present a public hazard so that the health, safety and welfare of the public is 
served. Further, the program will clearly express the responsibilities of the owners of 
vacant commercial and industrial buildings and structures, and will provide for 
administration, enforcement, and penalties. 

Sec.10-131. -  Definitions. 

Unless otherwise expressly stated, the following terms (with or without capitalization) 
shall, for the purposes of this article, have the meanings shown in this section. When 
terms are not defined, by this section, such terms shall have the meanings provided by 
section 1.2 of City Code or, if not defined in that section, such ordinarily accepted meaning 
as the context implies.  

ITEM IV. A. 



 
 

2 

  
  
Code violation means violation of any code adopted and/or enforced by the city, which 
may include but is not limited to the City Code or the International Property Maintenance 
Code.  
  
 
Commercial and industrial building means any building, or part thereof, that is used, or 
designed to be used for any private or public manufacturing, industrial, or commercial 
business purposes. 
  
Owner means any person, firm or corporation having a legal or equitable title in the 
property; or recorded in the official records of the state, county or municipality as holding 
title.  
  
  
Property means not only the commercial or industrial building and any other kind or nature 
of structure, but also the entire lot or parcel of land on which the building and any other 
structures are situated and any surrounding portion of the lot or parcel, as well as any 
fences, walkways, walls, or appurtenances.  
  
Responsible local representative means a person having his or her place of residence or 
business office within 45 miles of the property and designated by the property owner as 
the agent responsible for operating such property in compliance with the ordinances 
adopted by the city. For the purposes of this article, the term "agent" shall refer to the 
Responsible Local Representative. 
  
Responsible party means any owner, occupant, agent, manager, operator and/or 
management company of a property. 
 
Secure means a building or structure or a portion of a building that is closed or locked 
(other than by boarding) so as to prohibit entry by normal means. 
  
 
Unsecured means a building or structure or a portion of a building or structure that is open 
to entry by unauthorized persons without the use of tools or ladders. 
  
  
Vacant commercial or industrial building means a commercial or industrial  building that 
is not occupied by its owner, lessee or other person in lawful possession, or at which, for 
more than 120 days, substantially all lawful manufacturing, industrial, or commercial 
business operations have ceased, or the building is substantially devoid of contents. 
 

(a) Illustrations of such vacancy include, but are not limited to, any of the following 
circumstances: 



 
 

3 

(1) No licensed trade or business is actively being conducted in the building 
by the owner, a tenant, or another party occupying the building pursuant 
to a lease or other legal authority, or no licensed trade or business is 
actively being conducted in a building, structure, or other improvement 
that is subject to taxation and that is located on the property. 

       (2) No utility connections, including, but not limited to, water, sewer, natural 
gas, or electric connections, service the property, or no such utility 
connections are actively being billed by any utility provider for the 
property. 

 
(b)  Vacant building categorical classifications for a building or portion of a building:  

 
(1) Category I: No current code violations on the structure or the premises.  

 
a. The building is secure and not boarded.  
b. The building is structurally sound with no code violations. 
c. The premises is maintained to minimal code compliance by the owner or 

responsible party. 
d. The city will inspect the property annually. Property owner or responsible 

local representative must arrange this inspection through the Code 
Enforcement Division. 

 
(2) Category II: Minimal code violations.  

 
a. The building is boarded and secure. 
b. The building is structurally sound with minor code violations. 
c. The premises is not regularly maintained. 
d. Requires property to be inspected annually by the fire marshal, building 

official, business license official, and code enforcement officer. Property 
owner or responsible local representative must be present for the 
inspection.  

 
     (3) Category III: Severe code violations. 
 

a. The building requires boarding. 
b. Structural deficiencies are evident. 
c. History of criminal activity on the property. 
d. Condemned and/or illegally occupied.  
e. Requires property to be inspected three (3) times annually by the fire 

marshal, building official, business license official, and code 
enforcement officer. Property owner or responsible local representative 
must be present for all the inspection. Additional charges must be paid 
in the amount of $150 per inspection.  

 
  



 
 

4 

Sec. 10-132. -  Registration of vacant commercial or industrial buildings.  
 

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) below, all vacant commercial or industrial 
buildings shall be registered with the Code Enforcement Division within ten (10) 
days of becoming vacant as defined in section 10-131. After the calendar year 
of initial registration, registration must be renewed annually by May 1. 

  
(b) Exemptions from registration may be granted by the Code Enforcement 

Division after notification in writing from the property owner, in the following 
circumstances: 

 
(1) Buildings that are actively being renovated. Repairs and progression must 

be noticeable by the inspector (up to one year, and longer by appeal) or an 
active building permit must be associated with the work. 

 
(2) Buildings that are structurally deficient and have been ordered by the city to 

be demolished and removed, and for which the owner has provided consent 
to the City to demolish, and the City has accepted the consent. Liens are to 
be placed against the property to cover the cost of demolition.    

 
(3) A multi-unit commercial or industrial building with vacant units that together 

constitute less than fifty percent (50%) by square footage of the portion of 
the first flow facing or adjacent to a public right-of-way. 

  
(c) If the building is vacant at the expiration of any registration period, the owner 

shall re-register such building and pay the annual renewal registration and 
inspection charges.               

  
(d) The owner registering a vacant building shall supply the following information 

on an authorized form provided by the Code Enforcement Division:  
 

(1) Name, address, and telephone number of the owner; 
 
(2) Name, address, and telephone number of any responsible party, if 

applicable; 
 
(3) Name, address, and telephone number of any local agent or representative 

of the owner, if the owner’s residence or business address in more than 75 
miles from the vacant building; 

 
(4) Name, address, and telephone number of all persons with any legal interest 

in the property or building, including mortgagees and successors in interest;  
 
(5) Legal description and tax parcel identification number of the property on 

which the building is situated; 
 



 
 

5 

(6) The common address of the building or property; 
 
(7) Date on which the building became vacant along with any supporting 

documentation; and 
 
(8) A vacant building plan in accordance with section 10-133.  
 

(e) Following the registration of the vacant building, the Code Enforcement Officer 
shall conduct a complete exterior property inspection of the property to 
determine any code violations and to verify the vacant building category. 

 
(1) A status report will be provided to the owner of the building with the findings 

and current condition of the property. It will include any found violations and 
assign a category to the building, in accordance with section 10-131. 

  
(f) Property must be maintained in accordance with the International Building 

Maintenance Code. 
  
(g) Owners shall post "No Trespass" placards on the property. Additional 

employment of security services for the property for a specified number of 
hours every day may be required by the Police Chief or his/her designee on the 
basis of the property’s history of code and/or criminal violations. 

  
(h) Owners must designate a responsible local representative (“agent”) if their 

place of residence or business is more than 45 miles from the vacant building. 
The responsible local representative shall act as agent for the property owner 
for purposes of accepting legal service; however, the owner remains 
personally liable in criminal prosecutions for code violations. The responsible 
local representative must be available at the number listed in the event of an 
emergency or catastrophe.  

 
                                                 
Sec. 10-133. - Establishment of vacant building plan.  
 

(a) When a building is registered as required by this article, the owner shall submit 
for approval, or cause to be submitted for approval, a vacant building plan. The 
plan shall contain the following:  

 
(1) The reasonably expected period of vacancy; 
 
(2) A plan to make the building ready for occupancy with sufficient detail 

regarding the proposed repair and/or rehabilitation of the building to enable 
the Code Enforcement Division to determine the adequacy of such plan;  

 



 
 

6 

(3) A letter of written consent by the owner allowing city officials to enter and 
inspect the premises for the period in which the vacant building plan is in 
effect;  

 
(4) For buildings, dwellings or structures which are identified as being or 

containing public nuisances, the vacant building plan shall contain a plan of 
action to remedy such public nuisances;  

 
(5) For each required plan, a time schedule shall be submitted identifying a 

date of commencement of repair and/or rehabilitation and the schedule for 
completion of repair and/or rehabilitation for each building, dwelling or 
structure and identified nuisance;  

 
(6) When the owner proposes to occupy, sell, lease or demolish the vacant 

building, the owner shall submit a plan and time schedule for such action; 
and  

 
(7) A plan of action to secure, monitor and maintain the building and property 

for conformance with this article. 
  

(b) If the property is subject to a vacant building plan and the plan has been 
properly approved by the Code Enforcement Division, the transferee is subject 
to the terms of the vacant building plan. The transferee may apply to the city to 
be released from the requirements of the vacant building plan upon a showing 
of sufficient cause for release.   

  
Sec. 10-134. - Vacant commercial or industrial building charges.  
 

(a) Annual registration charges are based on the number of years that a 
commercial or industrial building has been vacant (after the effective date of 
this article).  All charges are due at the time of initial registration or upon annual 
renewal.  

 
The charges are as follows for all buildings:  

 
(1) Initial registration   $   100.00 
(2) First annual renewal  $   500.00 
(3) Additional annual renewal  $2,000.00 
  

  
(b) Upon determination by the Code Enforcement Division that a vacant building is 

not registered in compliance with this article, a penalty as described in section 
10-135 shall apply in addition to the applicable registration or renewal charge.  

  
(c) After the owner is given notice of the amount of the charge and penalty due, 

except for those owners that have properly perfected an appeal pursuant to 



 
 

7 

section 10-136, and the owner fails to pay the amount due within ten (10) 
business days after notice of violation, said amount shall constitute a debt due 
and owing to the city, and the city may commence a civil action to collect such 
unpaid debt. 

  
(d) If a vacant building becomes occupied within 60 days following an annual 

renewal date and remains occupied for at least 6 months, the owner of the 
vacant building can apply to the Code Enforcement Division to have the most 
recent registration charge refunded. This excludes any charges for penalties, 
initial registration or compliance inspections.  

  
Sec. 10-135. -  Enforcement and penalties.  
 

(a) Upon determination that a vacant building owner has failed to register or renew 
registration or has failed to provide update information in accordance with this 
article, or has failed to submit a vacant building plan or to comply with a vacant 
building plan that has been approved by the city under this article, or has failed 
to comply with any other provisions of this article, an administrative penalty of 
five hundred dollars ($500.00) will be assessed if the owner is not in compliance 
within ten (10) business days after notice of violation. 

 
(b) The city reserves its rights to seek such other remedies for violations of this 

article as are allowed by state or local law, including enforcement as a violation 
of the International Property Maintenance Code when applicable or prosecution 
of a violation as a misdemeanor in accord with section 1.6 of the City Code. 

 
 
Sec.  10-136. -  Appeal.  
 
Any person aggrieved by an action or determination of the Code Enforcement Division in 
enforcing this article may file an administrative appeal to the Standard Technical Codes 
Board of Appeals by submission of an appeal form supplied by the city to the city clerk 
within ten (10) calendar days of the receipt of notice of the action or determination.  Within 
fourteen (14) calendar days of the filing of the appeal, the Board shall hold a hearing on 
the appeal at which the appealing party and the Code Enforcement Division shall have 
an opportunity to be heard and at which the issue shall be whether the Code Enforcement 
Division acted in accord with the provisions of this article. Within five (5) business days 
after the hearing, the Board shall issue a written decision. Any person aggrieved by the 
decision by the Standard Technical Codes Board of Appeals may seek relief in the circuit 
court in accord with the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and applicable law. 
 
  
  
  
 
  



 
 

8 

  
This Ordinance shall become effective upon approval on second and final reading.  

 

 
 DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this ______ day of ___________ 2023. 
 
 
                ______________________________ 
                Elise Partin, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________  
Mendy Corder, CMC, Municipal Clerk 
 
First Reading: _____________________ 
 
Second Reading and Adoption: ____________ 
 
Approved as to form:     __________________________ 
         Danny C. Crowe, City Attorney 



 1 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ORDINANCE 2022-17 
) 

COUNTY OF LEXINGTON  ) Amending Chapter 10 (“Buildings and Building 
) Regulations”) of the Cayce City Code to Add a 

CITY OF CAYCE ) New Article V (“Vacant Commercial and  
) Industrial Building Registration”) 

WHEREAS,  the City Council, in the interest of public health, order, safety and the general 
welfare within the City, desires to address certain issues related to vacant commercial and 
industrial buildings within the City with a comprehensive  approach; and 

WHEREAS, the Council, to accomplish that comprehensive approach, wishes to amend  
Chapter 10 (“Buildings and Building Regulations”) of the Cayce City Code to add a new Article V 
(“Vacant Commercial and Industrial Building Registration”) as provided herein, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Cayce, in Council, duly assembled, that Chapter 10 (“Buildings and Building Regulations") of the 
Cayce City Code is hereby amended to (1) reserve sections 10-101 through 10-129 of the City 
Code following the current text of Article IV, and (2) add a new Article, entitled Article V (“Vacant 
Commercial and Industrial Building Registration”), to read as follows:  

ARTICLE V. - VACANT COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL BUILDING REGISTRATION 

Sec. 10-130. -  Declaration of policy and purpose.  

The purpose of this article is to establish a program for identifying and registering vacant 
commercial and industrial buildings within the City that may present a fire hazard, that 
may provide temporary occupancy by trespassers or other transients, that may detract 
from private and/or public efforts to rehabilitate or maintain surrounding buildings, and 
that otherwise may present a hazard to the health, safety and welfare of the public. 
Through a registration, inspection, and monitoring process, vacant commercial and 
industrial buildings will be kept weather tight and secure from trespassers, will provide 
safe entry to police officers and firefighters in times of emergency, will not impede private 
and/or public efforts to rehabilitate or maintain surrounding buildings, and will not 
otherwise present a public hazard so that the health, safety and welfare of the public is 
served. Further, the program will clearly express the responsibilities of the owners of 
vacant commercial and industrial buildings and structures, and will provide for 
administration, enforcement, and penalties. 

Sec.10-131. -  Definitions. 

Unless otherwise expressly stated, the following terms (with or without capitalization) 
shall, for the purposes of this article, have the meanings shown in this section. When 
terms are not defined, by this section, such terms shall have the meanings provided by 
section 1.2 of City Code or, if not defined in that section, such ordinarily accepted meaning 
as the context implies. 

Deleted:  protect and promote the public health, order,
safety, and the general welfare of the city by 
establishing a program for identification and registration 
of vacant commercial and industrial buildings, clearly 
expressing the responsibilities of owners of vacant 
commercial and industrial buildings and structures, and 
providing for administration, enforcement, and 
penalties.

ITEM IV. A. 



 
 

2 

  
  
Code violation means violation of any code adopted and/or enforced by the city, which 
may include but is not limited to the City Code or the International Property Maintenance 
Code.  
  
 
Commercial and industrial building means any building, or part thereof, that is used, or 
designed to be used for any private or public manufacturing, industrial, or commercial 
business purposes. 
  
Owner means any person, firm or corporation having a legal or equitable title in the 
property; or recorded in the official records of the state, county or municipality as holding 
title.  
  
  
Property means not only the commercial or industrial building and any other kind or nature 
of structure, but also the entire lot or parcel of land on which the building and any other 
structures are situated and any surrounding portion of the lot or parcel, as well as any 
fences, walkways, walls, or appurtenances.  
  
Responsible local representative means a person having his or her place of residence or 
business office within 45 miles of the property and designated by the property owner as 
the agent responsible for operating such property in compliance with the ordinances 
adopted by the city. For the purposes of this article, the term "agent" shall refer to the 
Responsible Local Representative. 
  
Responsible party means any owner, occupant, agent, manager, operator and/or 
management company of a property. 
 
Secure means a building or structure or a portion of a building that is closed or locked 
(other than by boarding) so as to prohibit entry by normal means. 
  
 
Unsecured means a building or structure or a portion of a building or structure that is open 
to entry by unauthorized persons without the use of tools or ladders. 
  
  
Vacant commercial or industrial building means a commercial or industrial  building that 
is not occupied by its owner, lessee or other person in lawful possession, or at which, for 
more than 120 days, substantially all lawful manufacturing, industrial, or commercial 
business operations have ceased, or the building is substantially devoid of contents. 
 

(a)  Illustrations of such vacancy include, but are not limited to, any of the following 
circumstances: 

Deleted: Citation means a charge or formal written 
accusation of violation of a municipal, state or federal 
law, regulation or ordinance, including any violations of 
the International Property Maintenance Code as 
adopted by the city. ¶

Deleted: Courtesy Registration means notification by 
mail, phone, fax or email to the Code Enforcement 
Division notifying them of an extended vacancy of 60 
days or more of a primary residence for a work, 
vacation, military or a medical reason.¶

Deleted: Premises means a lot, plot, or parcel of land, 
including the buildings or structures thereon.

Deleted: vacant building

Deleted: building, dwelling, structure or lot

Deleted: Unoccupied means a building that is not 
being used for a legal occupancy. ¶

Deleted: Vacant building means any structure built for 
occupancy for commercial or industrial uses that is 
unoccupied for more than 60 days. ¶



 
 

3 

1.   No licensed trade or business is actively being conducted in the building by 
the owner, a tenant, or another party occupying the building pursuant to a lease 
or other legal authority, or no licensed trade or business is actively being 
conducted in a building, structure, or other improvement that is subject to 
taxation and that is located on the property. 

2.   No utility connections, including, but not limited to, water, sewer, natural gas, 
or electric connections, service the property, or no such utility connections are 
actively being billed by any utility provider for the property. 

 
(b)  Vacant building categorical classifications for a building or portion of a building:  

 
(1)  Category I: No current code violations on the structure or the premises.  
 

a. The building is secure and not boarded.  
b. The building is structurally sound with no code violations. 
c. The premises is maintained to minimal code compliance by the owner or 
responsible party. 
d.  The city will inspect the property annually. Property owner or responsible 
local representative must arrange this inspection through the Code 
Enforcement Division. 
 

(2) Category II: Minimal code violations.  
 

a. The building is boarded and secure. 
b. The building is structurally sound with minor code violations. 
c. The premises is not regularly maintained. 
d.  Requires property to be inspected annually by the fire marshal, building 
official, business license official, and code enforcement officer. Property 
owner or responsible local representative must be present for the 
inspection.  
 

(3) Category III: Severe code violations. 
 

a. The building requires boarding. 
b. Structural deficiencies are evident. 
c. History of criminal activity on the property. 
d. Condemned and/or illegally occupied.  
e. Requires property to be inspected three (3) times annually by the fire 
marshal, building official, business license official, and code enforcement 
officer. Property owner or responsible local representative must be present 
for all the inspection. Additional charges must be paid in the amount of 
$150 per inspection.  
 

  
Sec. 10-132. -  Registration of vacant commercial or industrial buildings.  

Deleted:  



 
 

4 

 
(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) below, all vacant commercial or industrial 

buildings shall be registered with the Code Enforcement Division within ten (10) 
days of becoming vacant as defined in section 10-131. After the calendar year 
of initial registration, registration must be renewed annually by May 1. 

  
(b) Exemptions from registration may be granted by the Code Enforcement 

Division after notification in writing from the property owner, in the following 
circumstances: 

 
(1) Buildings that are actively being renovated. Repairs and progression must 

be noticeable by the inspector (up to one year, and longer by appeal) or an 
active building permit must be associated with the work. 

 
(2) Buildings that are structurally deficient and have been ordered by the city to 

be demolished and removed, and for which the owner has provided consent 
to the City to demolish, and the City has accepted the consent. Liens are to 
be placed against the property to cover the cost of demolition.    

 
(3) A multi-unit commercial or industrial building with vacant units that together 

constitute less than fifty percent (50%) by square footage of the portion of 
the first flow facing or adjacent to a public right-of-way. 

  
(c)  If the building is vacant at the expiration of any registration period, the owner 

shall re-register such building and pay the annual renewal registration and 
inspection charges.               

  
(d)  The owner registering a vacant building shall supply the following information 

on an authorized form provided by the Code Enforcement Division:  
 

(1) Name, address, and telephone number of the owner; 
 
(2) Name, address, and telephone number of any responsible party, if 

applicable; 
 
(3) Name, address, and telephone number of any local agent or representative 

of the owner, if the owner’s residence or business address in more than 75 
miles from the vacant building; 

 
(4) Name, address, and telephone number of all persons with any legal interest 

in the property or building, including mortgagees and successors in interest;  
 
(5) Legal description and tax parcel identification number of the property on 

which the building is situated; 
 
(6) The common address of the building or property; 

Deleted: R

Deleted: is valid for 12 months and 

Deleted:  from the date the building became vacant

Deleted: for the following circumstances upon 

Deleted: to the Code Enforcement Division

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ,

Deleted:  or premises

Deleted: premises 



 
 

5 

 
(7) Date on which the building became vacant along with any supporting 

documentation; and 
 
(8) A vacant building plan in accordance with section 10-133.  
 

(e) Following the registration of the vacant building, the Code Enforcement Officer 
shall conduct a complete exterior property inspection of the property to 
determine any code violations and to verify the vacant building category. 

 
(1) A status report will be provided to the owner of the building with the findings 

and current condition of the property. It will include any found violations and 
assign a category to the building, in accordance with section 10-131. 

  
(f)  Property must be maintained in accordance with the International Building 

Maintenance Code. 
  
(g) Owners shall post "No Trespass" placards on the property. Additional 

employment of security services for the property for a specified number of 
hours every day may be required by the Police Chief or his/her designee on the 
basis of the property’s history of code and/or criminal violations. 

  
(h) Owners must designate a responsible local representative (“agent”) if their 

place of residence or business is more than 45 miles from the vacant building. 
The responsible local representative shall act as agent for the property owner 
for purposes of accepting legal service; however, the owner remains 
personally liable in criminal prosecutions for code violations. The responsible 
local representative must be available at the number listed in the event of an 
emergency or catastrophe.  

 
                                                 
Sec. 10-133. - Establishment of vacant building plan.  
 

(a) When a building is registered as required by this article, the owner shall submit 
for approval, or cause to be submitted for approval, a vacant building plan. The 
plan shall contain the following:  

 
(1) The reasonably expected period of vacancy; 
 
(2) A plan to make the building ready for occupancy with sufficient detail 

regarding the proposed repair and/or rehabilitation of the building to enable 
the Code Enforcement Division to determine the adequacy of such plan;  

 
(3) A letter of written consent by the owner allowing city officials to enter and 

inspect the premises for the period in which the vacant building plan is in 
effect;  

Deleted: V

Deleted: and premises 

Deleted: All vacant buildings must remain secure 
and/or boarded in accord with the provisions of any 
applicable codes.

Deleted: premises

Deleted: premises 

Deleted: premises'

Deleted: Vacant building o

Deleted: vacant building 

Deleted: always 



 
 

6 

 
(4) For buildings, dwellings or structures which are identified as being or 

containing public nuisances, the vacant building plan shall contain a plan of 
action to remedy such public nuisances;  

 
(5) For each required plan, a time schedule shall be submitted identifying a 

date of commencement of repair and/or rehabilitation and the schedule for 
completion of repair and/or rehabilitation for each building, dwelling or 
structure and identified nuisance;  

 
(6) When the owner proposes to occupy, sell, lease or demolish the vacant 

building, the owner shall submit a plan and time schedule for such action; 
and  

 
(7) A plan of action to secure, monitor and maintain the building and property 

for conformance with this article. 
  

(b) If the property is subject to a vacant building plan and the plan has been 
properly approved by the Code Enforcement Division, the transferee is subject 
to the terms of the vacant building plan. The transferee may apply to the city to 
be released from the requirements of the vacant building plan upon a showing 
of sufficient cause for release.   

  
Sec. 10-134. - Vacant commercial or industrial building charges.  
 

(a) Annual registration charges are based on the number of years that a 
commercial or industrial building has been vacant (after the effective date of 
this article).  All charges are due at the time of initial registration or upon annual 
renewal.  

 
The charges are as follows for all buildings:  

 
(1) Initial registration   $   100.00 
(2) First annual renewal  $   500.00 
(3) Additionalannual renewal  $2,000.00 
  

  
(b) Upon determination by the Code Enforcement Division that a vacant building is 

not registered in compliance with this article, a penalty as described in section 
10-135 shall apply in addition to the applicable registration or renewal charge.  

  
(c)  After the owner is given notice of the amount of the charge and penalty due, 

except for those owners that have properly perfected an appeal pursuant to 
section 10-136, and the owner fails to pay the amount due within ten (10) 
business days after notice of violation, said amount shall constitute a debt due 

Deleted: premises 

Deleted: and 

Deleted: ordinance

Deleted: structures

Deleted: Second 

Deleted: 1

Deleted: (4) Third annual renewal $1,500.00¶
(5) Each year thereafter is $1,500.00.¶

Deleted: (b) An annual compliance inspection 
charge of $50.00 is required on all vacant buildings. 
The charge shall be paid at the time of registration. ¶

Deleted: c

Deleted: additional penalties may 

Deleted:  annual registration

Deleted: d

Deleted: Delinquent registration charge as a lien.

Deleted:  registration



 
 

7 

and owing to the city, and the city may commence a civil action to collect such 
unpaid debt. 

  
(d) If a vacant building becomes occupied within 60 days following an annual 

renewal date and remains occupied for at least 6 months, the owner of the 
vacant building can apply to the Code Enforcement Division to have the most 
recent registration charge refunded. This excludes any charges for penalties, 
initial registration or compliance inspections.  

  
Sec. 10-135. -  Enforcement and penalties.  
 

(a) Upon determination that a vacant building owner has failed to register or renew 
registration or has failed to provide update information in accordance with this 
article, or has failed to submit a vacant building plan or to comply with a vacant 
building plan that has been approved by the city under this article, or has failed 
to comply with any other provisions of this article, an administrative penalty of 
five hundred dollars ($500.00) will be assessed if the owner is not in compliance 
within ten (10) business days after notice of violation. 

  
 
 
(b)  The city reserves its rights to seek such other remedies for violations of this 

article as are allowed by state or local law, including enforcement as a violation 
of the International Property Maintenance Code when applicable or prosecution 
of a violation as a misdemeanor in accord with section 1.6 of the City Code. 

 
  
Sec.  10-136. -  Appeal.  
 
Any person aggrieved by an action or determination of the Code Enforcment Division in 
enforcing this article may file an administrative appeal to the Standard Technical Codes 
Board of Appeals by submission of an appeal form supplied by the city to the city clerk 
within ten (10) calendar days of the receipt of notice of the action or determination.  Within 
fourteen (14) calendar days of the filing of the appeal, the Board shall hold a hearing on 
the appeal at which the appealing party and the Code Enforcement Division shall have 
an opportunity to be heard and at which the issue shall be whether the Code Enforcement 
Division acted in accord with the provisions of this article. Within five (5) business days 
after the hearing, the Board shall issue a written decision. Any person aggrieved by the 
decision by the Standard Technical Codes Board of Appeals may seek relief in the circuit 
court in accord with the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and applicable law. 
 
  
  
  
 
  

Deleted:  the

Deleted: e

Deleted: registration 

Deleted: appeal 

Deleted: P

Deleted:  in addition to the registration charge will 
be assessed if the owner is not in compliance within 
11 days after notice

Deleted: (b) Failure by the owner to submit a 
vacant building plan or comply with a vacant 
building plan that has been approved by the city 
under this article or pay the charges as required 
under this article is a violation of the City Code and 
may be remedied by any of the following: ¶
¶
(1) An administrative penalty of five hundred dollars 
($500.00); or ¶
¶
(2) Such other remedies as may be authorized by 
state law.

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Hanging:  0.25"

Deleted: the requirements of this section 

Deleted: seek 

Deleted: a final

Deleted: issued under this section 

Deleted: ,

Deleted: any court of competent jurisdiction as 
provided by the law.

Deleted: Sec. 10-137. -  Acquisition of vacant 
buildings. ¶
¶
The City may acquire, pursuant to applicable state law, 
any property or premises determined to be vacant and 
a persistent nuisance, and shall have the power to 
hold, clear, manage or dispose of such property and 
premises so acquired for appropriate use. ¶



 
 

8 

  
This Ordinance shall become effective upon approval on second and final reading.  

 

 
 DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this ______ day of ___________ 2023. 
 
 
                ______________________________ 
                Elise Partin, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________  
Mendy Corder, CMC, Municipal Clerk 
 
First Reading: _____________________ 
 
Second Reading and Adoption: ____________ 
 
Approved as to form:     __________________________ 
         Danny C. Crowe, City Attorney 

Deleted: 2022



Memorandum
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

To: Mayor and Council  

From: Tracy Hegler, City Manager 

Date: March 7, 2023 

Subject: Approval of Resolution Approving the Process for 2020 Redistricting 
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

Issue 
Council’s approval is needed to approve a Resolution approving the process for 2020 Redistricting. 

Background 
In response to the issuance of the new decennial census data, the City is obligated to undertake a 
redrawing of its Districts, if determined necessary, and will work with the South Carolina Revenue and 
Fiscal Affairs Office (SCRFA) to complete this process.  

SCRFA has completed an initial review of the City’s Census data and identified a target population for 
each District of 3,445 individuals.  To achieve a recommended population deviation of 5%, District 2 
needs to increase their population and District 4 needs to decrease their current population.   

To continue with the redistricting process, SCRFA has recommended that the City Council adopt a 
Resolution (attached) outlining the standards by which it wants to achieve its redrawn district 
boundaries.   

Recommendation 
Staff recommends City Council approve the Resolution approving the process for 2020 Redistricting. 

ITEM V. A.



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
RESOLUTION APPROVING THE 

PROCESS FOR 2020 
REDISTRICTING 

) 
COUNTY OF LEXINGTON ) 

WHEREAS, the data for the 2020 Census pertaining to Cayce, South 
Carolina has been released for review, assessment, and redistricting of City 
districts in the City of Cayce; and  

WHEREAS, to ensure maximum review and public participation in 
developing redistricting plans based on the 2020 Census, the City of Cayce 
Council deems it necessary to publicly adopt criteria for the development of a 
redistricting plan in accordance with the 1965 Voting Rights Act as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the following criteria for developing plans for redistricting 2020 
will ensure compliance with the 1965 Voting Rights Act as amended and 
maximum public participation in the redistricting process: 

1. The City will adhere to the court ordered constitutional requirement of “one
person, one vote.” 

2. The City will adhere to the 1965 Voting Rights Act as amended and by
associated controlling court decisions. 

3. The City will ensure that districts are drawn contiguously, so that all parts
of the district are connected to each other. 

4. The City will ensure districts are drawn to minimize the division of voting
precincts. 

5. The City will keep proposed districts geographically compact to the extent
practicable, such that nearby areas of population are not bypassed for 
a more distant population. 

6. The City will ensure the districts are drawn, when feasible, with respect to
existing districts and communities of interests, which will require input 
from Council and citizens. 

7. The City will comply with other applicable court decisions and federal and
state laws. 

8. The City will solicit public comment and input as part of the development,
review, and adoption process. 

9. The City will adhere to the recommendations of the South Carolina
Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office of adopting a plan with a population 
variance of five percent (5%) or less; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Cayce commits to developing a plan which will not 
have the purpose nor the effect of diluting any existing minority voting strength as 
part of its redistricting efforts so long as such commitment does not impact the 
City’s ability to comply with the constitutional principles outlined above; and 

ITEM V. A.



 
WHEREAS, the City of Cayce expects the next steps to include receipt of a 

baseline map prepared by the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office; 
public review and input of the baseline map; City Council review of baseline map; 
potential revisions; and Council adoption. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the 
City of Cayce, in Council, duly assembled, that the above listed criteria for the 
2020 Census Redistricting criteria and associated processes are hereby adopted 
to ensure maximum public participation, transparency, and engagement in the 
redistricting process.   
 
 
 APPROVED this ____ day of_________ , 2023. 
 
 
 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Elise Partin, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Mendy C. Corder, Municipal Clerk 



Memorandum
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

To: Mayor and Council 

From: Tracy Hegler, City Manager 

Date: March 7, 2023 

Subject: Approval to Submit a SAFER Grant, through FEMA, for two Firefighters and a Fire 
Marshal Position 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

Issue 
Council’s approval is needed to proceed with submitting a FEMA SAFER grant (Staffing For Adequate 
Fire and Emergency Response) to hire two additional Firefighters and a Fire Marshal for our Fire 
Department.  

Background 
The Fire Department has seen an increase in calls for service from 2022 to 2023 at a rate of 28%. This 
year for 2023, we already have an increase of 28% from where we were at this time in 2022. With the 
call volume expected to increase this year, and for years to come, there is a desire to fully staff two 
apparatus to respond to emergencies. Currently, we staff our three shifts with seven firefighters 
each. This allows us to have two supervisors and five firefighters on each shift, which we split 
between two apparatuses and one supervisor vehicle. Having two additional Firefighters would allow 
us to move our staffing to eight per shift with seven being our minimum staffing. It will also allow for 
time off and other forms of approved leave.  

Currently, the Fire Chief is the only certified Fire Marshal to inspect all existing and new construction 
properties within the city. We have considered also training and certifying our Battalion Chiefs to 
perform Fire Inspections, but with an increase in call volume and other job duties, it is not a very 
viable option. With a successful grant request through SAFER, we would be able to have a Fire 
Marshal that is solely dedicated to providing fire and life safety inspections for the City.  

The grant will be fully funded for the first year then decrease by 20 percent each year until the City is 
responsible for funding 100% of the positions. The funds can only be used for salary and benefits. 
Salary with benefits for each Firefighter Position is $70,130, totaling $140,260.  For the Fire Marshal 
Salary and Benefits total is $85,264.  

For the three positions, we are submitting for the grant/City to fund: 

• Year One - Grant fully funded $225,524 
• Year two - City to pay 20% $45,104 

ITEM VI. A



• Year Three - City to pay 40% $90,209 
• Year Four - City to pay 60% $135,314 
• Year Five - City to pay 80% $180,419 
• Year Six - City to pay 100% $225,524 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends City Council approve the Fire Department’s request to apply for funding from 
FEMA’s SAFER grant. If the City is awarded the grant, it will be brought back to Council for final 
approval. 



Memorandum
To: Mayor and Council  

From: Tracy Hegler, City Manager 

Date: March 7, 2023 

Subject: Ratification of City Manager Action 

Issue 
Council approval is needed, in order, to ratify an agreement approved by the City Manager, under the 
Emergency Powers of Sec. 2-146, with McClam & Associates, on March 1, 2023, for the emergency pipe 
burst necessary to repair a collapsed 8” sewer line along Parkwood Drive. The sewer line collapsed was 
detected Monday, February 27. A by-pass pump was installed to limit the disruption to our customer 
and has been in place since the 27th. 

Discussion 
The collapse of the sewer line requires us to replace 175 feet of 8” gravity sewer line. The line runs 
through an intersection in the neighborhood which greatly increases the cost of the repair. Initial plans 
for repair included digging up and replacing the entire length of the pipe. However, that plan is cost 
prohibitive at over $50,000 and includes the cost of repaving the intersection.  

The Utility Department sought other options and determined that pipe bursting will not only lessen the 
impact on the surrounding area but is a less expensive and quicker option. McClam & Associates 
provided a quote and an acceptable delivery schedule to complete the work. A price of $35,500 was 
agreed upon for the needed equipment, materials, and labor to complete the job.  

The City Manager approved the quote using the Emergency Powers established by City of Cayce 
ordinance. 

Sec. 2-146. - Emergency powers. 
In case of accidents or other circumstances creating an emergency, the city manager may, with 
the consent of the council, award contracts and make purchases for the purpose of repairing 
damages caused by such accidents or meeting such public emergency; but he shall file 
promptly with the council a certificate showing such emergency and necessity for such action, 
together with an itemized account of all expenditures.  

(Code 1975, § 2-57) 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends Council approve and ratify the prior actions of the City Manager concerning the 
agreement with McClam & Associates as described in the attached certificate, for $35,500. 

ITEM VI. B



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
) 
) CERTIFICATE 
) 

CITY OF CAYCE ) 

I, Tracy Hegler, City Manager of the City of Cayce, in accord with Cayce City Code Sec. 2-
146, do hereby certify the following as indicated by City records: 

1. On February 27, 2023, the City Manager and staff responded to a sewer line collapse along
Parkwood Drive, which necessitated emergency action to fix the sewer line at a lower cost
option.

2. City staff arranged for a quotation for services from McClam & Associates. The quotation for
pipe bursting, equipment, materials, and work was $35,500. The situation was considered
an emergency requiring an immediate procurement of services. The City Manager
authorized the work, which will be completed on March 5, 2023. City staff worked diligently
and quickly to find a resolution at a lower cost.

3. Use of the emergency power provision was required to enter into an agreement with the
outside construction company for the rental of equipment. A copy of the agreement and
invoice with McClam & Associates is attached.

________________________________ 
Tracy Hegler 

Date: ____________________________ 

ITEM VI. B



ITEM VI. B



1 Cayce Housing Authority Board Minutes – Regular Board Meeting December 13, 2022 

Minutes for December 13, 2022, Regular Board Meeting 
of the Housing Authority of the City of Cayce, SC 

The Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the City of Cayce, SC held its Regular Board Meeting on Tuesday, 
December 13, 2022, at Cayce City Hall. 

Chairman Jack Sightler called the meeting to order at 5:02 pm.  A copy of the agenda was posted on the Housing Authority’s 
website.  Roll call was conducted, and the following members of the Board and staff were present:  

CH Board Members Columbia Housing Authority 
Staff Present 

Chairman Jack Sightler Present Yvonda Bean, CEO 
Vice-Chairman Bruce Smith Present Marisa Phoenix, CFO 
Commissioner Silvia Sullivan Present Lee McRoberts, COS 
Commissioner Cheryl Seymour Present Briana Weston, Community Property Manager 
Commissioner Johnetta Riley Present Damian White, Community Safety Manager 

Visitors 
Ken Walters, City of Cayce 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
Mr. Sightler called for approval of the minutes for the Regular Meeting held October 18, 2022. Upon motion of 
Commissioner Smith, seconded by Commissioner Seymour, the minutes were approved. 

Board Member Aye Nay Absent 
Chairman Jack Sightler X 
Vice-Chairman  Bruce Smith X 
Commissioner  Silvia Sullivan X 
Commissioner  Cheryl Seymour X 
Commissioner  Johnetta Riley X 

CEO REPORT: 

Mrs. Bean asked Ms. Weston to deliver the Operations Report. 

OPERATIONS REPORT: 

Ms. Weston presented the Operations Report for October, November, and December. 

October           November December  

Accounts sent to Magistrate      0        1        3 

Account more than 30 days        3      3        7 
Work Orders received       0      34              14 

Work Orders Completed    0      28 7 

Work Orders Remaining      0      6 7 
Emergency Work Order      0      6 3

ITEM VII. A. 



2 Cayce Housing Authority Board Minutes – Regular Board Meeting December 13, 2022 
  
 

 

 
 
**Magistrate Update: 
 
October- no cases sent to the magistrate. 
November - 1 cases sent to the magistrate for lease violation. 
December -  3 cases sent to magistrate for non-payment of rent.  
 

Ms. Weston stated that the number of work orders are largely related to HVAC issues where pilot lights needed to be relit. 
Commissioner Riley asked what was being powered by gas in the units. Ms. Weston said that the hot water heaters and 
many ranges are gas; Commissioner Riley asked if those systems can be switched to electric. Mrs. Bean said that staff is 
looking at options to do that work after the conversion when private financing may be obtained on the properties. The 
long-term goal is to convert all units to electric but will pose challenges due to the way the initial installation of the 
existing systems was completed. 
 
Commissioner Smith asked why there was a different colored roof on one of the back units at Poplar St. Ms. Warner said 
that it probably happened when the roof was replaced several years ago. Chairman Sightler asked if appliances have  been 
replaced in the renovated units, Mrs. Bean confirmed that they have been replaced. 
 
Mrs. Bean said that she had provided the Public Housing Assessment System (PHAS) Score Report for Cayce that was 
completed for fiscal year 2022. The PHAS is a combination of scored indicators and Cayce Housing received a 76 out of 
100 possible points, classifying it as substandard performer.  
 
Points were lost due to a number of issues; accounts payable, accounts receivable, occupancy and the physical inspections 
of the units. Outstanding invoices were discovered on a former employee’s desk that created a situation where bills were 
paid outside the fiscal year they were incurred in. Occupancy rates were also an issue as units were vacant during 
renovation and not properly designated in the HUD tracking system; staff has filed an appeal to receive these points back 
as the vacancies were HUD approved. Initial conversations with HUD regarding the appeal have been positive as staff has 
documentation to support the approved vacancies. If the appeal is successful, staff is hopeful the designation will be 
upgraded to a standard performer. 
 
Commissioner Riley asked how this year’s report compared to the previous year. Mrs. Bean said that the previous year 
scored Cayce Housing as a standard performer. Mrs. Bean added that the substandard designation is explainable due to the 
vacant units during renovation that had been approved by HUD; staff will update the Board on the status of the appeal. 
 
Commissioner Riley asked what has been put into place to prevent the accounts payable and receivable problems from 
reoccurring. Mrs. Bean said that this was not a common issue and had been created from staff transition. A system is in 
place to ensure invoices are submitted and paid in a timely manner.  
 
Commissioner Smith asked what the previous score was, Mrs. Bean said that she believes the previous year’s score was a 
94. Commissioner Smith asked if staff is confident, they know what created the issues and how to prevent them in the 
future. Mrs. Bean said that all issues have already been addressed and that the appeal regarding points lost due to 
vacancies during renovation has been submitted; staff is waiting on a written response from HUD with a final answer. 
 
Mrs. Bean reported that all renovations have been completed and all units have been turned over to property management; 
all families have returned to their units. Work on the house at 2007 Byron is complete and has been occupied. 
Commissioner Sightler commended staff for their hard work to complete the work and reoccupy the unit in less than a 
year. 
 



3 Cayce Housing Authority Board Minutes – Regular Board Meeting December 13, 2022 
  
 

 

Commissioner Riley commented that a work truck has been parked on the grass in front of a unit on Byron. Ms. Weston 
said that she has addressed the issue with the tenant previously but will contact them again and enforce the conditions of 
the lease which prohibit parking in unapproved spaces. Commissioner Riley said that staff needs to ensure residents are 
aware of the City of Cayce’s new parking ordinance; Ms. Weston said they are made aware of those conditions when the 
lease is signed but she will reinforce during resident meetings. 
 
Commissioner Smith asked about the status of the community building on Poplar Street. Mrs. Bean said that staff was 
notified the Cayce Public Safety officers currently in the building would be moving out but no additional updates have 
been provided. Commissioner Smith said he still sees law enforcement there on a regular basis. Mrs. Bean said that the 
unit will be converted to a residential unit and that the environmental assessment of the property is currently underway 
with a final report expected in January. Commissioner Smith asked why an Environmental Assessment was being 
conducted. Mrs. Bean said that HUD requires an Environmental to identify any possible issues with the property prior to 
conversion. 
 
Ms. Warner stated that criminal activity at Poplar Street has declined since placing cameras on the property; she also 
reported that the vacant unit that had been boarded up has been repaired and reoccupied. 
 
Ms. Phoenix gave the Financial Report. 

 

 



4 Cayce Housing Authority Board Minutes – Regular Board Meeting December 13, 2022 
  
 

 

Ms. Phoenix pointed out that more operating subsidy had been received than budgeted and that excess utility charges 
resulted from the extreme high temperatures during the summer months. An overage was also incurred in maintenance 
due to termite inspections that were performed on all units. Tenant revenue was down due to the temporary relocations 
and vacancies during renovations. Overall Cayce is a good financial position with a positive cash flow year to date. 
 
OTHER ITEMS: 
 
Mrs. Bean said the arborist report was provided to the Board in their monthly packet. Trees to be removed are identified 
on the enclosed plan; work will be extensive and costly and staff hopes to see work begin after the first of the year. 
Commissioner Sullivan asked if the work can be done in stages to spread the cost out. Mrs. Bean said that is definitely an 
option and that the Board can direct how the work is completed. Commissioner Sullivan asked what the difference 
between a “significant” tree and and “insignificant” tree is as referenced in the arborist’s report. Mr. Walters, from the 
City of Cayce, said that hardwoods with diameter of over 24” are considered treasured trees and are noted as significant. 
 
Mrs. Bean reported that she recently visited the seniors at Spencer Place to deliver blankets and holiday greetings. 
Commissioner Seymour said that the residents were surprised by the visit and enjoyed meeting with Mrs. Bean. 
Commissioner Seymour also said that staff delivered hot meals on Thanksgiving Day that were greatly appreciated by all 
that received them. Commissioner Smith asked about the resident that was relocated from Poplar Street to Spencer Place. 
Ms. Weston said that she is adjusting to her new unit and staff is checking on her. 
 
Commissioner Seymour said that there are still some outstanding issues that have not been addressed in some of the units 
at Spencer Place and that while the issues are small they need to be completed. Mrs. Bean said that she will follow up to 
make sure they are handled. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business and upon motion of Chairman Sightler, seconded by Commissioner Smith, it was 
unanimously approved to end the meeting at 5:46 pm. 
 
Prepared by: 
 
Yvonda A. Bean 
Secretary/Chief Executive Officer 



1 Cayce Housing Authority Board Minutes – Annual Board Meeting December 13, 2022 

Minutes for December 13, 2022, Annual Board Meeting 
of the Housing Authority of the City of Cayce, SC 

The Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the City of Cayce, SC held its Annual Board Meeting on Tuesday, 
December 13, 2022, virtually via video conference. 

Chairman Jack Sightler called the meeting to order at 5:46 pm.  A copy of the agenda was posted on the Housing Authority’s 
website.  Roll call was conducted, and the following members of the Board were present:  

CH Board Members Columbia Housing Authority 
Staff Present 

Chairman Jack Sightler Present Yvonda A. Bean, Chief Executive Officer 
Vice-Chairman Bruce Smith Present Gloria Warner, Regional Property Manager 
Commissioner Johnetta Riley Present Lee McRoberts, COS 
Commissioner Silvia Sullivan Present Brianna Weston, Property Manager 
Commissioner Cheryl Seymour Present Marisa Phoenix, CFO 

Visitors: 
Ken Walters, City of Cayce 

ELECTION OF OFFICERS 

Chairman Sightler called for nominations for Chairman.  Commissioner Sullivan nominated Mr. Sightler as Chairman, 
seconded by Commissioner Smith, it was unanimously approved. 

Board Member Aye Nay Absent 
Chairman Jack Sightler X 
Vice-Chairman  Bruce Smith X 
Commissioner  Silvia Sullivan X 
Commissioner  Cheryl Seymour X 
Commissioner  Johnetta Riley X 

Chairman Sightler called for nominations for Vice-Chairman.  Commissioner Sullivan nominated Mr. Smith as Vice-
Chairman, seconded by Chairman Sightler it was unanimously approved. 

Board Member Aye Nay Absent 
Chairman Jack Sightler X 
Vice-Chairman  Bruce Smith X 
Commissioner  Silvia Sullivan X 
Commissioner  Cheryl Seymour X 
Commissioner  Johnetta Riley X 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business and upon motion of Commissioner Sullivan, seconded by Commissioner Seymour, it was 
unanimously approved to end the meeting at 5:47 pm. 

Prepared by: 

Yvonda A. Bean 
Secretary/Executive Director 

ITEM VII. A.



Page 1 of 3

Cayce Historical Museum Commission January 11, 2023, Meeting
Minutes

The January 11, 2023 meeting of the Cayce Historical Museum Commission (CHMC) was held in the
Cayce Visitors Center. The meeting was convened at 4:08 by Acting Chair Archie Moore. The following
individuals attended the meeting:

Name Status
Archie Moore Commissioner (Acting Chair)
Mary Sharpe Commissioner
James Stewart Commissioner
A.G. Dantzler Commissioner
Charlita Earle Commissioner (left early)
Pamela Sulton Commissioner
Garrett Creasman Commissioner
David Brinkman Commissioner
Marcy Hayden Commissioner
Andy Thomas Cayce Museum Curator
Mike Conley Assistant City Manager

Upcoming Events:

1/26 Presentation on Quilting at Cayce Visitor’s Center
2/16 George Wingard Presentation on Dave the Potter’s Legacy
2/18 Sweetgrass Basket Making Class
3/25 Cayce Soiree on State Street
4/1 Colonial Village at Tartan Day South

Invocation: Commissioner Dantzler

Action Items:

Voting for Chair
Funding Policy for Markers

November Meeting Minutes:

The Commission reviewed the previous meeting minutes. Commissioner Sulton motioned that
the meeting minutes be accepted with the amendment that Commissioner Hayden was excused
from the meeting.  Commissioner Creasman seconded the motion, and the minutes were
approved by unanimous vote.

Museum Staff Report

Two potential donations were put forward for the Commission’s consideration.  The first
donation was a set of firefighter badges from Cecil Dykes.  The second donation was a collection
of twentieth century documents and clothing from Donna Mahoney.  While further information is

ITEM VII. A.



Page 2 of 3

needed to ascertain whether the second donation was a good fit for the museum, the first
donation was well-suited for the public service exhibit.  Commissioner Creasman motioned to
accept the badges (seconded by Commissioner Dantzler) and the motion was approved by
unanimous vote.  Ms. Mahoney also expressed concern over the possible removal of a baseball
scoreboard at Williams Field.  Commissioner Sulton motioned that we gather additional
information on that topic (seconded by Commissioner Stewart). This motion was also
unanimously approved.

2022 Christmas in Cayce Review

In the future, the cider temperature needs to be lower and food needs to be individually
packaged.  The cannon was also exceedingly loud.  Slippery stair treads also made for a trip/fall
hazard. City personnel are already planning to correct the hazard.

Several Commissioners offered recommendations for improving the content of the next (2023)
Christmas in Cayce event.  The open space around the museum could be used for a European
style Christmas Market. The Lantern tour has the most room for improvement.
Recommendation for the tour include:

● inclusion of additional themes and chronological periods
● creation of scripted content
● offer reservations for lantern tour time slots
● creation of handbill tour map

Old Business

● The subcommittee for establishing a new Museum foundation 501(c)3 plans to have the
nonprofit incorporated in the first quarter of the year.

● The subcommittee for strategic planning needs to meet before the next full meeting to
create a framework/schedule for full Commission’s deliberations.

New Business

● Chairman Archie Moore brought the matter of the Old State Road to the attention of the
Commission and expressed his concerns regarding the condition and future status of the road
and the fact that it is closed to the public from the bridge at Congaree creek to Old Wire Road.
Mr. Moore presented a brief history paper and informed the commission that he has submitted a
preliminary application to the State Preservation office as a first step toward inclusion of the
road into the National Register of Historic Places.

● The preservation of the unpaved and closed section of Old State Road is a concern for
the Commission.  The road is an important part of the city’s history.  Commissioner
Sulton motioned that we request further information from the City about the road and
also look into the preparation of a National Register of Historic Places (NRHP)
Nomination Form for the road.  Commissioner Hayden seconded the motion, which was
approved by unanimous vote.



Page 3 of 3

Officer Election

Commission Officers are elected for one-year terms that expire at the end of the calendar year.
Two candidates were nominated for Commission Chair: Archie Moore and James Stewart.
Commissioner Earle had to leave before the election, bring the number of votes for the election
to eight.  Votes for Commission Chair were tied between the two candidates.  As there was no
procedure for breaking a tie, election results were discarded and a new vote will be held at the
February Commission meeting.  Commissioner Hayden nominated Commissioner Sulton for
Vice Chair and Commissioner Hayden was nominated by Commissioner Sulton for the position
of Secretary.  Both ran unopposed for their positions and were elected by unanimous vote of the
Commissioners still present at the meeting.

Having no further business, Commissioner Dantzler motioned for the meeting to adjourn.  The
motion was seconded by Commissioner Creasman and the meeting was adjourned at 5:56 PM.



CITY OF CAYCE  
EVENTS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

January 12, 2023 

Present: Dwede Dennis, Megan Lightle, Byron Thomas, Danny Creamer, Maxine 
Creamer, Robert Cathcart, Dave Capps, Jonathon Moore, Alexis Moore, Cindy Pedersen. 

Absent: Evony Reed  

City Representatives:  Mendy Corder, James Denny 

Chairperson Danny Creamer called the meeting to order and led the group in the Pledge of 
Allegiance. Mr. Moore led the invocation.   

Election of Officers:  
Mr. Creamer stated that he had thoroughly enjoyed his tenure as Chairperson of the Events 
Committee.  He stated that he felt it was time for someone else to lead the Committee and bring 
new and different energy to the group.  He stated that he would continue to be a member of the 
Committee and nominated Johnathon Moore as Chairperson.  Ms. Lightle seconded, and the 
motion carried.  Robert Cathcart was nominated by Ms. Pedersen as Vice Chairperson, Mr. 
Creamer seconded, and motion carried. Mr. Cathcart accepted the nomination.  Mr. Capps 
nominated Maxine Creamer as Secretary. Ms. Lightle seconded, and the motion was carried. Ms. 
Creamer accepted. At this time, the meeting was turned over to the new Chairperson, Mr. 
Jonathan Moore. 

Review of Bylaws and Attendance Policy: 
The Committee reviewed the Bylaws and unanimously agreed that no changes were needed.  The 
City’s Committee Attendance Policy was reviewed as well.     

Debriefing of Carols Event: 
Everyone agreed that the Carols Along the Riverwalk was a huge success.  The café lights that 
Parks staff hung at the entrance to the Riverwalk were stunning and made the space seem 
magical.  Ms. Pedersen stated that more Trolley Pickup signs were needed at BC High School.  It 
was noted that staff’s City vehicles were parked in the parking lot of the Riverwalk and it was 
noted to ask all staff, including Police staff to not park in that area.  Ms. Pedersen stated that 
Captain Telegram parked the trolley too close to the edge of the pavement and she was 
concerned that someone was going to fall.  She asked staff to ask him to not park so close to the 
edge.  Mr. Creamer stated that he thought Bob Michelski’s spot was too far of a walk and needed 
to be moved closer to the T intersection.   

Ms. Corder stated that a water hose was needed at the picnic shelter at the shelter by the 
restrooms in case water is needed for cleanup and to make filling the urns easier.  It was 
suggested to get an extra pot for the hot chocolate so some could be heating up while the other 
two urns are being served.  Hot chocolate ran out this year and it took quite a while to make 
more and a long line formed waiting.  It was suggested that staff wear something to designate 

ITEM VII. A.



them as staff.  Ms. Corder suggested that staff could wear Santa hats with staff written across the 
white part of the hat.  It was suggested that a reminder was needed as to where to place the bands 
for next year.   
 
New Business:  
Mr. Moore stated that he would like to see the Events Committee become involved in the City’s 
neighborhoods and be more active in the community.  It was discussed having events in the 
various parks throughout the City since they were located in the neighborhoods.  Mr. Moore also 
suggested that the Committee could hold a block party in another part of the City other than State 
Street.  He asked each Committee member to have two ideas for new events at the February 
meeting.  He stated that the events could be very small and did not have to be a large festival 
type event.  The Committee members agreed the committee needs to come up with some event 
for July 2023.   
 
With no further business the meeting was adjourned. 
 
The next Events Committee meeting is February 9, 2023 at 5:30PM 
 



APPROVED MINUTES 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

CAYCE CITY HALL 
1800 12th Street Extension 

Monday, January 23, 2023 
6:30 PM

I. CALL TO ORDER
The meeting was called to order by Chair Ed Fuson.  The members present were Robert Power, 
Michael Mahoney, Patty Foy, Richard Boiteau, and Michael Wuest. Planning Commission 
member Stockton Wells resigned from the Commission to staff on January 23, 2023.    

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Michael Wuest made a motion to approve the minutes of the September 19, 2022, meeting.  
Robert Power seconded the motion.  All were in favor.  

III. STATEMENT OF NOTIFICATION
Monique Ocean confirmed that the public and the media were made aware of the meeting and 
the public hearing.  

IV. MAP AMENDMENT 001-23
A request, by the owner, Christian Hernandez, to rezone a property from RG-2 (General 
Residential) to M-1 (Light Industrial). The property is located at 1403 Dunbar Road (Tax Map 
Number 005766-03-007).  

a. Opening Statement
Monique Ocean stated to the Planning Commission that the applicant, Mr. Hernandez, requested 
to withdraw his rezoning request.  Ms. Ocean stated that Mr. Hernandez had sent an email to 
indicate that he wanted to withdraw the request.  Ms. Ocean stated that Mr. Hernandez said he 
would attempt to make it to the meeting and public hearing but unfortunately, he was not able to 
make it.  Ms. Ocean stated that a motion and a vote would have to be made by the Planning 
Commission to decide whether the withdrawal would be upheld or if the public hearing would go 
on as advertised.  Ms. Ocean explained if the Planning Commission voted to proceed with the 
public hearing, they would be making a vote in Mr. Hernandez’ absence.  Ms. Ocean explained 
to the Planning Commission that their approval of the withdrawal request would allow the 
applicant to bring the matter back to them at any date in the future. Ms. Ocean explained that if 
the public hearing proceeded and the rezoning request was denied, the matter could not be re-
heard for 1 year. Richard Boiteau made a motion to deny the request for withdrawal of the 
rezoning application. Michael Wuest seconded the motion.  By a majority vote of 4 to 2, the 
Planning Commission choose to deny the request for withdrawal of the rezoning application.  
Robert Power and Patty Foy stated they voted against the motion to deny because Mr. Hernandez 
was not present. The public hearing was then opened to the public for comments.   

b. Public Comment
There was no one present to speak on the rezoning request. 

c. Adjourn Public Hearing
With no further discussion, the public hearing was closed. 

d. Motion
Michael Wuest made a motion to recommend denial of the rezoning request, to City Council.  
Richard Boiteau seconded the motion.  All were in favor.  The reasons given for the 
recommended denial were because the rezoning request is not in compliance with the 
Comprehensive Plan and the request is inconsistent with the area. Patty Foy and Robert Power 

ITEM VII. A.



stated they agree with the references to the Comprehensive Plan but would have accepted the 
applicant’s request to withdraw the application and would prefer for the applicant to be present.  

V. NEW BUSINESS 
a. Review and Amendment of By-Laws 

Michael Wuest made a motion to approve the amended By-Laws.  Michael Mahoney seconded 
the motion.  All were in favor. 

b. Nomination and election of Officers for 2023 
Robert Power made a motion to nominate Ed Fuson as Chair for 2023 Year.  Richard Boiteau 
seconded the motion.  All were in favor. Ed Fuson made a motion to nominate Richard Boiteau 
as Vice Chair for the 2023 Year.  Michael Wuest seconded the motion.  All were in favor. 

c. Nomination and election of Monique Ocean as Secretary for 2023 
Richard Boiteau made a motion to nominate Monique Ocean as Secretary.  Michael Wuest 
seconded the motion.  All were in favor. 

d. Approval of meeting schedule for 2023 
Michael Mahoney made a motion to approve the meeting schedule with a change to the 
November meeting date to November 27, 2023.  Patty Foy seconded the motion.  All were in 
favor. 

VI. ADJOURNMENT 
Robert Power made a motion to adjourn.  Richard Boiteau seconded the motion.  All were in 
favor. 
 
 
 
 
 

A quorum of Council may be present. 
No discussion or action on the part of Council will be taken. 



City of Cayce 
Committee Appointments/Reappointments 

March 7, 2023

COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED 

ACCOMMODATIONS TAX COMMITTEE – ONE (1) POSITION  
Mr. Neal Patel’s term on the Accommodations Tax Committee expires in March.  Mr. Patel fills the 
requirement that someone from the hotel industry serve on the Committee and he would like to 
serve again.  His reappointment application is attached for Council’s review.    

NO COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED 
The following positions remain open until receipt of potential member applications. 

STANDARD TECHNICAL CODES BOARD OF APPEALS – ONE (1) POSITION 
Reviews citizen appeals to ensure building codes, property maintenance codes and fire codes are 
properly interpreted and implemented fairly.  Members who serve on this Board must be either an 
Engineer, Contractor, Architect or Design Professional. There are no recommendations at this time. 

APPOINTMENT PROCESS 

Cayce citizens have an opportunity to actively participate in the City through their services on a 
number of advisory boards, commissions, foundations and committees. These groups help shape 
and carry out policy. 

Applications are accepted at any time for all City of Cayce boards, commissions, foundations and 
committees.  Cayce citizens wishing to apply for appointment may submit a potential member 
application to the Municipal Clerk, P. O. Box 2004, Cayce, SC 29171. More information and a copy 
of the application can be found on our website at caycesc.gov or by calling City Hall at 803-796-
9020. 

City Council considers applications at a meeting immediately following an opening. 

ITEM VII. B





ITEM VII. C

























ITEM VII. D
























	Binder9.pdf
	Agenda March 7 2023 page 1 replacement0001.pdf
	Binder8.pdf
	Binder6.pdf
	Binder5.pdf
	Binder4.pdf
	Binder3.pdf
	Binder2.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	Item I. B. - February 7, 2023 Council Meeting Minutes
	Item I. B. - February 22, 2023 Council Meeting Minutes


	Item IV. A. - White Paper  Vacant Comm and Ind Property Registration.pdf
	Item IV. A. - Ordinance Vacant Comm and Ind Property Reg Second Reading Clean.pdf
	Item IV. A. - Redlined Ordinance Vacant Comm and Ind Property Reg Second Readiing.pdf

	Item V. A. - White Paper - Census Redistricting Resolution.pdf
	Item V. A. - Resolution Approving 2020 Redistricting Process.pdf
	RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PROCESS FOR 2020 REDISTRICTING



	Item VI. A. - White Paper - SAFER Grant FINAL.pdf
	Item VI. B. - White Paper Emergency Power Ratification Sewer Line Replacement  3.1.23.pdf
	Item VI. B. - Certificate of Emergency_Action Pipe Bursting McClam & Associates 3.1.23.pdf
	Item VI. B. - McClam & Associates agreement.pdf

	Binder7.pdf
	Item VII. A. - Cayce Housing Authority Minutes December 13, 2022
	Item VII. A. - Cayce Housing Authority Annual Meeting Minutes December 13, 2022
	Item VII. A. - Museum Commission Minutes January 11, 2023
	Item VII. A. - Events Committee Minutes January 12, 2023
	Item VII. A - Planning Commssion Minutes January 23, 2023



	Binder10.pdf
	Item VII. B. - Appts and Reappts Report
	City of Cayce
	COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED
	ACCOMMODATIONS TAX COMMITTEE – ONE (1) POSITION
	Mr. Neal Patel’s term on the Accommodations Tax Committee expires in March.  Mr. Patel fills the requirement that someone from the hotel industry serve on the Committee and he would like to serve again.  His reappointment application is attached for C...
	NO COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED
	STANDARD TECHNICAL CODES BOARD OF APPEALS – ONE (1) POSITION
	Reviews citizen appeals to ensure building codes, property maintenance codes and fire codes are properly interpreted and implemented fairly.  Members who serve on this Board must be either an Engineer, Contractor, Architect or Design Professional. The...
	APPOINTMENT PROCESS

	Item VII. B. - Patel Reappointment Application (2)
	Item VII. C. - PC by-laws 2023
	Item VII. C. - PC by-laws redlined copy 2023
	Item VII. D. - BOZA by-laws 2023
	Item VII. D. - BOZA  by-laws redlined copy 2023




